# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF Flectronically Filed Jun 13 2017 02:32 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CHAD ZENOR,

Supreme Court Case No. 71790

Appellant

District Court Case No. 15OC002751B

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. its DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.	
	,

On Appeal from Order Denying Motion for Attorney's Fees dated November 17, 2016 in the First Judicial District Court, Carson City The Honorable James Wilson Presiding

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Mark Forsberg (SBN 4265)
OSHINSKI & FORSBERG, LTD.
504 E. Musser St., Suite 302
Carson City, Nevada 89701
Telephone 775-301-4250
Mark@OshinskiForsberg.com
Attorney for Appellant

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(8) which establishes the appealability of special orders of the District Court after final judgment. Here, the District Court's denial of Respondent's Petition for Judicial Review was a final judgment. Appellant moved for attorney's fees post-judgment and appeals from the order denying that motion.

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

NRAP 17(a) enumerates cases that are to be heard and decided by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(14) provides that this Court will hear matters raising as a principal issue a question of state-wide public importance. Appellant urges that this case is of state-wide importance because it potentially could determine that NRS 18.010(2)(b) is applicable to the State of Nevada when it and its attorneys act in bad faith by bringing and maintaining a petition for judicial review without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The Court has not addressed this issue, nor has it addressed whether an individual who is the prevailing-party respondent to the State's petition for judicial review brought pursuant to NRS 233B may recover attorney's fees.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Should an individual respondent to the State of Nevada's petition for judicial review of a hearing officer's decision in favor of the employee be entitled

to an award of attorney's fees notwithstanding the holding of *State Dept. of Human Resources*, *Welfare Division v. Fowler*, 109 Nev. 782, 858 P.2d 375 (1993)?

2. Should NRS 18.010(2)(b) apply to the State of Nevada where it and its attorneys bring and maintain a petition for judicial review under NRS 233B without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Nevada Department of Transportation ("NDOT") terminated Chad Zenor's ("Zenor") employment on the ground that he had a medical disability eight months after NDOT received a release to full duty without limitations from Mr. Zenor's treating worker's compensation physician on October 22, 2014. Zenor administratively appealed the termination, asserting that NDOT improperly terminated him based on a disabling medical condition when, in fact, NDOT knew that his physician had determined that he was fit for duty. The hearing officer found in favor of Zenor and ordered NDOT to reinstate him with back pay. Decision of the Hearing Officer, Appellant's Appendix ("A. App.") Vol. I: 228-240. NDOT filed a petition for judicial review in the First Judicial Court seeking to overturn the order of the hearing officer, but did not challenge the findings of fact made by the hearing officer. A. App. Vol. II:241-247. Zenor was compelled to defend the decision of the hearing officer and retained counsel to represent him. Contemporaneously with the filing of its petition, NDOT moved for a stay of the hearing officer's decision. A.

App. Vol. II: 258-266. Zenor opposed the motion for stay, A. App. Vol. II: 267-277, and the District Court denied the motion, finding that NDOT had not demonstrated that it had a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits of its petition. A. App. Vol. II: 293-296. After full briefing, the District Court denied the petition. A. App. Vol. II: 345-355. NDOT did not appeal the order denying its petition, and is therefore bound by order and its factual findings and conclusions of law. Zenor timely moved to recover the attorney's fees he incurred in defending the hearing officer's decision against a groundless petition for judicial review. A. App. Vol. II: 371-394. Zenor asserted that he was entitled to an award of fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b), and that the circumstances of his case placed him outside this Court's precedent denying fees where a statute, NRS 284, did not expressly provide for such an award.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

NRS 233B.131(3) provides that in conducting judicial review of an agency action (here, the decision of the hearing officer requiring NDOT to return Zenor to work and pay him back wages) the court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact. Judicial review of a final agency decision must be confined to the record of the administrative proceeding. *NRS 233B.135(1)(b)*. NRS 233B.135(3) provides that the court "shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact." Here, the agency's decision was rendered by the administrative

hearing officer. NDOT did not dispute the factual findings of the hearing officer in its petition for judicial review, and did not appeal the denial of its petition for judicial review. Therefore, as a matter of law, all the findings of fact contained in the decision of the hearing officer must be accepted by this Court.

The following are the findings of fact contained in the decision of the hearing officer and are set forth in his decision. *A. App. Vol. I: 228-240.* 

Chad Zenor was employed by the Nevada Department of Transportation as a Highway Maintenance Worker III. He suffered a work-related injury to his right wrist on August 1, 2013. He received worker's compensation benefits as a result of his work-related injury.

On July 21, 2014, Zenor was subjected to a Functional Capacity Evaluation ("FCE") performed by a physical therapist and signed by his approved worker's compensation treating physician, Dr. Huene, which determined that he was not yet capable of performing the activities required by his pre-injury job. *A. App. Vol. I:* 1-6.

Based on the FCE, NDOT convened a meeting in August of 2014 that included Zenor, Certified Rehabilitation Counselor Debra L. Adler ("Adler") and representatives of the third-party worker's compensation administrator, CCMSI, to review options for Zenor, including vocational rehabilitation training for a new position allowed by his physical restrictions identified in the FCE. *See Transcript* 

of Proceedings Before the Honorable Charles P. Cockerill, Hearing Officer. A. App. Vol. 1: 229, para. 5.

However, on September 24, 2014, Dr. Huene examined Zenor again and released him to full pre-injury duties with a brace on his wrist as needed. *A. App. Vol. 1: 8.* Dr. Huene wrote in his note of that date: "I have reviewed the FCE; again this was done in July of 2014. He was not able to demonstrate the ability to safely perform the physical demands of his pre-injury job; however now his wrist is in better function." He wrote that "I will sign off on the FCE but, again, I expect him to continue to improve as he uses his wrist more and more . . ." *Id.* He further stated that "I have gone over with him and his case manager that the FCE was done on July 21, 2014 and that he was not permanent and stationary at that point and he obviously has better function of his wrist at this point . . . We will keep him on work restrictions, brace on as necessary; otherwise, he can use it fully."

On October 22, 2014, Dr. Huene released Zenor to full duty without limitations or restrictions. *A. App. Vol. I:* 8. The doctor wrote that "At this point I think he can do full duties without limitations." The doctor did not require or suggest that Zenor should continue to wear the brace on his right wrist.

Zenor and his wife, Cathie Zenor, delivered the release prepared by Dr. Huene to NDOT on October 22, 2014, the same date it was issued by Dr. Huene. *Hearing Officer Decision, A. App. Vol. I: 230, para.* 7. NDOT did not dispute this testimony.

*Id.* CCMSI, NDOT's third-party claims administrator and CCMSI claims representative Tani Consiglio also were aware of Zenor's release to full duty and Consiglio confirmed her knowledge of the release in a letter to Zenor dated October 24, 2014. *A. App. Vol. I: 14*.

The hearing officer found, based on the evidence before him, that CCMSI and NDOT were both aware that Zenor had been released to full duty during the period of time that Zenor was undergoing vocational rehabilitation. *Hearing Officer Decision, A. App. Vol. I: 230, para. 7.* Ms. Consiglio testified that the vocational rehabilitation option should not have been pursued under the circumstances because we "would not do vocational rehabilitation" where there is a full release to return to work. *Id.* 

Nonetheless, NDOT did not return Zenor to work and instead pursued vocational rehabilitation. As part of that process, correspondence from Adler Vocational Rehabilitation Service directed Zenor to finalize a plan to return to work through an approved vocational rehabilitation program or risk suspension or termination pursuant to NRS 616C.601, an incorrect citation to NAC 616C.601. *A. App Vol. I: 11-13*.

NDOT deliberately refused to return Zenor to work, notwithstanding the full release given by Dr. Huene. In fact, on September 29, 2014, after Dr. Huene released Zenor to full duty wearing a wrist brace as needed, NDOT employee Diane Kelly

sent Consiglio an e-mail stating that:

Employer is standing by the [July 21, 2014] FCE results *regardless* of what Dr. Huene states, he signed off on the FCE. Subsequently, Mr. Zenor was referred to voc rehab as appropriate and he needs to be working with Debra Adler in an active and ongoing manner to pursue other career options available through voc rehab. Mr. Zenor does not seem to have any trouble whatsoever riding around on his new Harley. Last time I checked, it takes quite a bit of wrist action and strength to operate these motorcycles.

A. App. Vol. I: 9. Bracketed material and emphasis added. This e-mail shows that NDOT made a conscious decision to disregard the release to duty without restriction by Dr. Huene, and also, disingenuously, seems to question whether Zenor has an injury that would prevent him from returning to his prior job, noting the wrist strength required to ride a motorcycle.

At the request of NDOT, Dr. Huene medically approved Zenor to participate in vocational rehabilitation. *See countersigned letter from Adler to Dr. Huene, A. App. Vol. I: 15-18.* Dr. Huene's approval, of course, was consistent with his previous assessment of Zenor since he had released him to unrestricted full duty in his prior job. Rather than showing that Dr. Huene had changed his mind about Zenor's ability to work as a highway maintenance worker as NDOT asserts, the letter sought agreement from Dr. Huene that Zenor was physically able to perform the bookkeeping tasks for which he was to be trained. Dr. Huene signed the letter agreeing that Zenor could perform those tasks.

On December 23, 2014, Zenor signed an agreement dated December 11 and prepared by NDOT which contained a bullet point stating "Not able to physically perform work as a highway maintenance worker pre injury work." The hearing officer found as a matter of fact that Zenor objected to this statement being included in the agreement, but signed when Adler threatened him with dismissal from the rehabilitation program if he didn't sign the document as prepared. *Hearing Officer Decision at A. App. Vol I: 231, para. 12.* NDOT conceded at the hearing that this agreement did not waive any of Zenor's rights under NAC 284.611. *Id. at para. 13.* 

Despite having in its possession the September 24, 2014 release to full duty with the use of a brace as needed, and the October 22, 2014 release to full duty with no limitations, NDOT sent Zenor a letter dated December 31, 2014 (A. App. Vol. I: 19) stating:

We regret to inform you that the District will not be able to continue to approve leave without pay status indefinitely . . . *If you are unable to provide us with a full duty work release*, we will be placed in a regrettable position in which we must, in accordance with NAC 284.611, initiate separation due to a physical disorder.

Emphasis added. The letter was signed by NDOT Highway Maintenance Manager Steve Williams but prepared by NDOT Human Relations Manager Kimberly King ("King") for Williams' signature. *Hearing Officer Decision, A. App. Vol. I: 232, para. 15.* At the time the letter was written, Zenor had long since delivered the October 22, 2014 release to full duty to NDOT and NDOT also had the earlier release

of the release to NDOT in response to the letter. The letter from Williams to Zenor misstates the law. Nothing in NAC 284.611 or any other code provision or statute provides that the employer "*must*, in accordance with NAC 284.611, initiate separation due to physical disorder." What NDOT *was* required to do was follow the procedure set forth in the regulation. It was not required to terminate Zenor.

Despite its undisputed knowledge that Zenor had twice been released to full and unrestricted duty as a highway maintenance worker, on June 1, 2015, NDOT provided Zenor a formal written notification that NDOT was pursuing separation of his employment under NAC 284.611 based on "the independent functional capacity evaluation . . . which specifies your permanent physical limitations." A. App. Vol. I: 20. This letter signed by King, A. App., Vol. 1: 16, did not acknowledge the existence of the October 22, 2014 release. It was sent 10 months after the FCE was conducted and seven months after Zenor was released by his doctor to unrestricted duty. In his decision, the hearing officer noted that Ms. King admitted in her testimony that nowhere in the July 21, 2014 FCE were there described any "permanent physical limitations." Hearing Officer Decision, A. App. Vol. I: 23, para. 16. He noted that the October 22, 2014 release established that there were no such restrictions preventing Zenor from returning to his pre-injury job at NDOT. *Id.* 

On June 5, 2015, NDOT Administrator Thor Dyson gave notice to Zenor that an administrative services officer would conduct a hearing regarding his separation from service. Hearing Officer Decision, A. App. Vol. I 232-233, para 17. This notice, too, relied solely on the July 21, 2014 FCE and did not mention the October 22, 2014 release. *Id.* At the hearing, NDOT did not provide the hearing officer with a copy of the October 22, 2014 release for consideration by the administrative services officer. Id. After the hearing, on June 24, 2015, NDOT Deputy Director Tracy Larkin-Thomason issued formal notice to Zenor that he was separated from service pursuant to NAC 284.611 effective June 26, 2015. A. App Vol. I: 24-25. Despite obviously not considering the October 22, 2014 release to full duty, NDOT based its decision to terminate Zenor on "your inability to perform the essential functions of your position due to medical reasons." This conclusion could only have been based on the FCE.

Despite the findings of fact and in the absence of reference to any other evidence or testimony from the record below, NDOT perpetuated this falsehood in its motion for stay pending appeal:

It is Petitioner's position that Respondent has repeatedly admitted that he cannot perform the duties of a Highway Services Worker III, that he has not been cleared to perform the duties of a Highway Services Worker III, and that the doctor's note upon which he relies is rendered moot by a later dated note from the same physician, endorsing the statement that Respondent cannot perform the duties of a Highway Services Worker III.

A. App. Vol. II: 258-266.

NDOT also falsely asserted that "Respondent has been determined incapable of performing the essential functions of the position."

NDOT always incorrectly deemed the FCE to be Dr. Huene's final word on the subject of Zenor's ability to return to unrestricted employment in his pre-injury job. King's June 1, 2015, letter to Zenor a letter stated:

The Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) is in receipt of the independent functional capacity evaluation performed by Rhonda Fiorillo, PT, MPT with Back In Motion Physical Therapy on July 21, 2014, which specifies your permanent physical limitations. The Department reviewed your limitations and determined that you are unable to return to your previous position as part of your Workers' Compensation case . . . pursuant to NAC 284.416, the Department of Transportation is pursuing your separation from state service for medical reasons . . . It is with deepest regret, I must inform you the Department will pursue separation under NAC 284.611.

A. App Vol. I: 20. King's letter misrepresents the facts in the administrative record and as determined by the hearing officer and the District Court.

NDOT does not deny that it knew of Dr. Huene's September 24, 2014 assessment. And, although it clearly repudiates and expressly supersedes his opinion that became part of the FCE, NDOT disingenuously continued to rely on the FCE almost a year later when it informed Zenor that he was being separated from service based on the FCE and continued to rely on it in its petition before the District Court, long after it could have plausibly claimed not to know that Zenor was fit for duty as

of October 22, 2014. CCMSI's October 24, 2014 letter to Zenor acknowledges Dr. Huene's release and conclusion that his treatment of Zenor had concluded. *A. App. Vol. 1: 14.* The letter stated: "We recently received a report indicating that you completed your medical treatment for your work related injury. Prior to closing your claim we would like to schedule you for an impairment evaluation." *Id.* The letter was signed by Consiglio, the claims representative for Zenor's case at CCMSI. *The letter was copied to NDOT.* Thus, on October 24, 2014, NDOT knew that Zenor's treatment had been completed and would also have been aware through CCMSI of Dr. Huene's full release of Zenor.

Because it will not accept the direct and unambiguous statements of Dr. Huene that Zenor was fit to return to full duty, NDOT now finds itself in the unenviable position of having to rely on another document signed by Dr. Huene to buttress its fabricated claims the Zenor was unfit to return to work. On December 3, 2014, Debra Adler of Adler Vocational Rehabilitation Service wrote a letter to Dr. Huene advising him that Zenor had "been released to participate in vocational rehabilitation services and to return to work." *A. App. Vol 1:11-13*. The letter listed nine restrictions without identifying the source of the restrictions, which obviously did not come from Dr. Huene. Ms. Adler does not purport to have examined Zenor, so it is undeniable that the restrictions are again culled from the now-superseded FCE. Contrary to NDOT's assertions, this letter did not seek approval or confirmation of

the listed restrictions. Rather, at the end of the letter, there was a request that Dr. Huene either approve or disapprove the proposed jobs for which Zenor was to be trained. In fact, most of the letter consisted of detailed job descriptions for various accounting and bookkeeping functions. Dr. Huene checked in a space indicating his approval, not of the restrictions, but of the proposed jobs for which Zenor was to be trained. He signed the letter on December 10, 2014. NDOT urges that Dr. Huene's signature approving Zenor to work as a bookkeeper is a reversal of his earlier positions going back to September of 2014 in which he had released Zenor to full duty. This characterization of the letter is unsupported by the letter itself, which never inquires of Dr. Huene whether Zenor is able to return to his pre-injury job but only to consider what his employment in the future might consist of after vocational rehabilitation. The hearing officer declined to accept NDOT's characterization of the meaning of the letter, and his finding of fact in this regard could not be reviewed by the District Court as set forth in NRS 233B.135(1)(b) and (3). In any event, it can hardly be contrary to the substantial evidence in this case that the hearing officer gave greater weight to the diagnosis of a physician than of a vocational rehabilitation purveyor or an outdated FCE prepared by a physical therapist many months before.

Despite being fully aware that Zenor had been released to full duty, NDOT plowed ahead with efforts to place him in vocational rehabilitation. The hearing officer determined as a matter of fact that Zenor received letters dated September 1

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