IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHAD ZENOR,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

Case No. 71790 Electronically Filed Aug 29 2017 08:38 a.m. Dist. Ct. Case No Elizabeth 27 Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from Order Denying Motion for Attorney's Fees dated November 17, 2016 in the First Judicial District Court, Carson City The Honorable James Wilson Presiding

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees because the provisions of the APA, which are the exclusive means of judicial review of, *or judicial action concerning*, a final agency decision, provide only that a court may "remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part..." The APA's provisions do not include authority for a court to award attorney's fees.

Even if this were not so, the district court still properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b), which grants the district court discretion to award attorney's fees upon a finding that the opposing party brought or maintained its claims without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. In this case, the district court declined to make such findings, despite Petitioner's urging to do so. And such a finding was not warranted, as NDOT's petition was reasonable based upon the facts of this case. Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has declined to award fees under NRS 18.010 in a judicial review proceeding under the APA. Accordingly, the district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is abuse of discretion because the district court made no findings warranting attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b). "The decision to award attorney fees is within the sound discretion of the district court and will not be overturned absent a "manifest abuse of discretion." *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray* 121 Nev. 464, 479, 117 P.3d 227, 238 (2005) *See also Trustees v. Developers* *Surety*, 120 Nev. 56, 59, 84 P.3d 59, 61 (2004). Sometimes, the Court reviews a district court's award of attorney's fee *de novo*. In *Trustees v. Developers Surety*, the Court reviewed the district court's order *de novo* because "the district court essentially ruled that NRS 17.115, NRCP 68 and NRS 18.010 do not apply to surety bond disputes." *Id.* at 59, 61.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR OR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REFUSED TO AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES TO PETITIONER

The district court properly denied Petitioner's attorney's fees related to NDOT's petition for judicial review under the APA. The APA lists the exclusive means of judicial action in a petition for judicial review and it does not list awarding attorney's fees as a possible judicial action; therefore, under the plain text of NRS 233B, Petitioner cannot rely on NRS 18.010, which grants discretion to the court to award attorney's fees in limited circumstances, as an add-on remedy to those available under the APA, which are exclusive. Additionally, even assuming NRS 18.010 applies to matters under the APA, an award of fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) requires a specific finding that the district court declined to make in this case. Accordingly, the Nevada Supreme Court should affirm the district court's refusal to award attorney's fees.

1. Petitioner is not entitled to attorney's fees because the APA does not authorize the district court to issue attorney's fees.

The district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees because the APA provides the exclusive means of judicial action in a petition for judicial review, and it does <u>not</u> include a provision for awarding attorney's fees. The APA as set forth in NRS 233B provides for adjudicating disputes before agencies, permitting a party that receives an unfavorable administrative decision to petition the district court for judicial review. The APA specifically limits court action to that provided by NRS 233B:

> [t]he provisions of this chapter are the exclusive means of judicial review of, or judicial action concerning, a final decision in a contested case involving an agency to which this chapter applies.

NRS 233B.130. Specifically, judicial action in a petition for judicial review includes reversing, affirming, or setting aside part or all of the agency's final decision as set forth in NRS 233B.135. The APA does not, however, include a provision for awarding attorney's fees.²

² To the contrary, the Nevada Legislature has enacted statutes authorizing the payment of attorney's fees under certain circumstances. For example, the Legislature has authorized the district court to order costs and fees for filing a frivolous petition of hearing officer decisions involving industrial injuries. *See* NRS 616C.385.

The Nevada Supreme Court has refused to award attorney's fees absent express statutory authorization from the Legislature. In State, Dep't of Human Res., Welfare Div. v. Fowler, 109 Nev. 782, 784, 858 P.2d 375, 376 (1993), the Court declined to use NRS 18.010 to award fees under the APA, noting that it is well established that "a [district] court may not award attorney's fees unless authorized by statute, rule or contract." The Nevada Supreme Court accordingly reversed the district court's order granting attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(a), stating, among other things, that NRS 233B provides the exclusive means of judicial review concerning an agency's final decision, and that it "does not contain any specific language authorizing the award of attorney's fees in actions involving petitions for judicial review of agency action." Id. at 377, 785. In Fowler, the Court echoed a holding from a previous case also involving attorney's fees stemming from an administrative dispute. There, in State Indus. Ins. System v. Wrenn, 104 Nev. 536, 539, 762 P.2d 884, 886 (1988), the Court also refused to uphold attorney's fees awarded by the district court because

> the legislature has not expressly authorized an award of attorney's fees in worker's compensation cases except in limited circumstances not applicable here. We have repeatedly refused to imply provisions not expressly included in the legislative scheme.

///

///

The Nevada Supreme Court is thus clear that district courts cannot award attorney's fees without legislative authorization.

Here, the district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees because the Nevada Legislature did not provide them under the APA. See NRS 233B.130; Fowler, 109 Nev. at 377, 858 P.2d at 785. Under Nevada case law, the Nevada Legislature confidently excluded attorney's fees from the remedies it intended as permitted by the APA because in NRS 233B, the Legislature explicitly listed the sole remedies available to the district court. See O'Callaghan v. The Eighth Judicial District Court, 89 Nev. 33, 505 P.2d 1215, 1216 (1973) (holding that Nevada courts apply the *expressio unius* principle: "By expressly designating the areas to which NRS 463.315 shall apply, the legislature, by implication, excluded other areas therefrom."); See also Palmer v. Del Webb's High Sierra, 108 Nev. 673, 680, 838 P.2d 435, 439-440 (1992) (Young, J. concurring) (explaining that "[t]he legislature could have easily provided that an occupational disease 'means', 'is' or 'is defined as' any disease which 'arises out of and in the course of employment," but that the legislature did not, in fact, do Indeed, when the Nevada Legislature intends to permit the recovery of so). expenses or attorney fees for administrative hearings, it has done so explicitly. See

NRS 616C.385 (permitting attorney's fees for filing a frivolous petition of hearing officer decisions involving industrial injuries under NRS 616C).

Accordingly, awarding attorney's fees in this case would conflict with the plain language of NRS 233B and run counter to *Fowler* and *Wrenn* because the Nevada Supreme Court "does not imply provisions not expressly included in the legislative scheme." *Wrenn*, 104 Nev. at 539, 762 P.2d at 886; *Fowler*, 109 Nev. at 784, 858 P.2d at 376. Thus, the district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees because there is no statute, rule or contract permitting the court to issue attorney's fees in this matter.

i. NRS 18.010 does not authorize fees against NDOT for filing an NRS 233B/284 petition for judicial review.

Despite NRS 233B excluding attorney's fees, Petitioner insists that the district court should have granted attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b).³ NRS

³ He misstates that "[t]he Nevada Supreme Court has never addressed an award of attorney's fees under these circumstances." Actually, in in *State, Dep't of Human Resources v. Burgess*, Nev., No. 46378 at 6 (May 30, 2007), the Nevada Supreme Court analyzed 18.010(2)(b) under very similar circumstances to Petitioner's, relying on *Fowler* to reverse an award of attorney's fees against the State where the district court had found that the State submitted a frivolous opposition as part of a petition for judicial review pursuant to the APA. *State, Dep't of Human Resources v. Burgess*, 07-11876 at 6. While it is true that *Burgess* was not published, and therefore cannot be relied upon at the appellate level pursuant to NRAP 36, it is not accurate for Petitioner to then say that the Nevada Supreme Court has *never* addressed this issue before.

18.010(2)(b) is a statute that allows a court to award attorney's fees to the "prevailing party" if the court finds the "claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or thirdparty complaint or defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party." NRS 18.0102(b). In *Fowler*, the Supreme Court held that NRS 18.010 does not apply to petitions for judicial review because they are not actions for money damages. *Fowler*, 109 Nev. at 786, 858 P.2d at 377.

While it is true that *Fowler* involved NRS 18.010(2)(a), and Petitioner argues that he is entitled to fees per NRS 18.010(2)(b), the *Fowler* decision still precludes recovery of attorney's fees in this case. Specifically, the Nevada Supreme Court in *Fowler* clearly stated that "NRS 18.010" does not apply when a party does not request money damages and it did not distinguish between "NRS 18.010(2)(a)" and NRS 18.010(2)(b) in its holding. ⁴ *Fowler*, 109 Nev. at 786, 858

⁴ Employee's other attempt to distinguish *Fowler* is not relevant; he argues that *Fowler* is distinguishable merely because NDOT, rather than Petitioner, brought the petition. *Fowler* does not depend on the fact that an employee, rather than the agency, was the petitioner. Rather, the case holds that employees are not entitled to attorney fees incurred in connection with termination of their employment, appeal, and subsequent reinstatement; Petitioner, like *Fowler*, was a State of Nevada employee, seeking attorney's fees against a Nevada administrative agency after the agency terminated him, the hearing officer reversed the termination, and the district court, upon petition under NRS 233B, agreed with the hearing officer that the agency was not justified in terminating Petitioner. It is directly on point.

P.2d at 377. Petitioner cites no authority or cases to suggest that the Supreme Court treats NRS 18.010(2)(a) differently from NRS 18.010(2)(b) in cases of petitions for judicial review.⁵ Rather, he urges the Court to disregard *Fowler* and instead look to a case, *Franchise Tax Bd. of State v. Hyatt*, 130, Nev. Adv. Op. 71, 335 P.3d 125 (2014), interpreting NRS 41.032, not NRS 18.010 as is at issue here, and therefore is not relevant. Simply stated, there is no authority to support an award of attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) in the context of a petition for judicial review.

As discussed above, the APA is the exclusive authority for judicial relief in a petition for judicial review. If NRS 18.010 were also to apply to APA proceedings, as Petitioner urges, it would render the APA superfluous. The Court should therefore affirm the district court's order denying attorney's fees.

///

///

⁵ In line with *Fowler*, contextual analysis of NRS 18.010 supports that NRS 18.010(2)(b), like 2(a), does not apply in the context of an APA proceeding. Both NRS 18.010(2)(a) and NRS 18.010(2)(b) only allow a district court to award attorney's fees to a "prevailing party." "Prevailing party" is a "broad [term], encompassing plaintiffs, counterclaimants and defendants." *Smith v. Crown Financial Services*, 111 Nev. 277, 285, 890 P.2d 769, 774 (1995). Petitioner was a respondent responding to an administrative petition, not a "plaintiff[s], counterclaimant[s] [or] defendant[s] in a lawsuit." *See Smith*, 111 Nev. at 285, 890 P.2d at 774.

2. Even if NRS 18.010(2)(b) extends to parties seeking judicial review pursuant to the APA, Petitioner is not entitled to attorney's fees because NDOT acted reasonably and in good faith, and the district court made no findings otherwise.

Alternatively, even if NRS 18.010(2)(b) applies to APA matters, Petitioner is not entitled to attorney's fees because NDOT brought the petition for judicial review in in good faith pursuant to NRS 233B.⁶ The APA states that "[a]ny party who is . . . [i]dentified as a party of record by an agency in an administrative proceeding; and . . . [a]ggrieved by a final decision in a contested case...is entitled to judicial review of the decision." The APA allows a court to affirm, reverse or set aside the agency's final decision as set forth in NRS 233B.135.

3. The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision of the agency is:

(a) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;

⁶ Petitioner states in his opening brief that "the only argument advanced by NDOT for denying [Petitioner's] motion for attorney's fees" before the district court was that the APA did not provide for attorney's fees. However, NDOT argued before the district court, as it does now, that even if NRS 18.010(2)(b) applied, he is not entitled to attorney's fees because NDOT's petition for judicial review was reasonable. NDOT has never agreed with Petitioner that it acted unreasonably or in bad faith, as Petitioner's statement here would suggest. NDOT additionally argued before the district court that Petitioner's attorney's fees were excessive under the *Brunzell* factors. PA Vol. II, pp. 395–423.

- (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) Affected by other error of law;

(e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

- (f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.
- 4. As used in this section, "substantial evidence" means evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

NRS 233B.135(3)–(4).

A district court can use its discretion to award attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) in limited circumstances. NRS 18.010(2)(b) allows a court to award attorney's fees to the "prevailing party" if the court finds the "claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party complaint or defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party." NRS 18.010(2)(b). The court may pronounce its decision on the fees after the trial or special proceeding concludes. NRS 18.010(3).

An award of attorney's fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) is discretionary with the district court. *Semenza v. Caughlin Crafted Homes*, 111 Nev. 1095, 901 P.2d 687 (1995); *Foley v. Morse & Mowbray*, 109 Nev. 116, 124, 848 P.2d 519, 524 (1993). To support an award under NRS 18.010(2)(b), "there must be evidence in the record supporting the proposition that the complaint was brought without reasonable grounds or to harass the other party." *Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc.,* 109 Nev. 478, 486, 851 P.2d 459, 464 (1993). A claim is groundless if allegations in the complaint are not supported by any credible evidence at trial, it is brought in bad faith, or it is fraudulent. *Semenza,* 111 Nev. at 1095, 901 P.2d at 688 (citation omitted). Such an analysis depends upon the actual circumstances of the case rather than a hypothetical set of facts favoring plaintiff's averments. *Id.*

Here, the district court properly denied Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees because NRS 18.010(2)(b) is discretionary and dependent on the district court making certain findings about the underlying claims as being unreasonable or in bad faith, which the district court explicitly did not make here. To be sure, in December of 2016, Dr. Huene signed a document that plainly stated that Petitioner was unable to work as a highway maintenance worker. PA Vol. I, pp. 18; 53–55. NDOT believed that Dr. Huene would not have endorsed vocational rehabilitation if Petitioner could also perform highway maintenance work because Nevada law does not entitle Petitioner to both options.⁷ See NRS 616C.590 (deeming an

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